

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Carbohydrate Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/carres



Review Glycosyl iodides. History and recent advances

Peter J. Meloncelli, Alan D. Martin, Todd L. Lowary*

Alberta Ingenuity Centre for Carbohydrate Science and Department of Chemistry, Gunning-Lemieux Chemistry Centre, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada T6G 2G2

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 December 2008 Received in revised form 17 February 2009 Accepted 23 February 2009 Available online 9 March 2009

Keywords: Glycosyl iodides Synthesis Glycosyl donors Oligosaccharides C-Glycosides N-Glycosides

ABSTRACT

The use of glycosyl iodides as an effective method for the preparation of glycosides has had a recent resurgence in carbohydrate chemistry, despite its early roots in which these species were believed to be of limited use. Renewed interest in these species as glycosylating agents has been spurred by their demonstrated utility in the stereoselective preparation of O-glycosides, and other glycosylic compounds. This review provides a brief historical account followed by an examination of the use of glycosyl iodides in the synthesis of oligosaccharides and other glycomimetics, including *C*-glycosylic compounds, glycosyl azides and N-glycosides.

© 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1110
Ζ.	History and general reatures	1111
3.	Formation of glycosyl iodides	1112
	3.1. Iodotrimethylsilane	. 1112
	3.2. HMDS/I ₂	1112
	3.3. HI	1112
	3.4. Miscellaneous techniques	1113
4.	Formation of O-glycosides	1113
	4.1. Preparation of 1,2-cis linkages	1113
	4.2. Preparation of 1,2 trans linkages	. 1117
	4.3. Preparation of 2-deoxy glycosides	1119
5.	Formation of C-glycosylic compounds (C-glycosides)	1119
6.	Formation of N-glycosides	1120
7.	Conclusions	1120
	References	1122

1. Introduction

Efficient formation of glycosidic linkages has played an important role in the development of modern synthetic carbohydrate chemistry.¹ Among the various types of donors that can be employed for the construction of glycosidic bonds, glycosyl iodides have long been underutilized. However, over the past 10 years, a number of advances in the preparation and use of glycosyl iodides



 ${\bf Scheme}~{\bf 1.}$ First preparation of a glycosyl iodide from a per-O-acetylated monosaccharide. 5



^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 780 492 1861; fax +1 780 492 7705. *E-mail address*: tlowary@ualberta.ca (T.L. Lowary).

^{0008-6215/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.carres.2009.02.032



Scheme 2. Synthesis of benzyl 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-α-D-glucopyranoside via a glycosyl iodide.⁸

have been made. Of particular note, in head-to-head comparisons between glycosyl iodides and the more commonly used glycosyl bromide, thioglycoside and trichloroacetimidate donors, these species have often been shown to offer products in higher yield and/or with superior stereoselectivity. Thus, despite their relative lack of previous use, glycosyl iodides should now be viewed as versatile glycosylation reagents. In this review we summarize the history of glycosyl iodides in the field of synthetic carbohydrate chemistry and describe their use in the assembly of glycosidic bonds, with a particular focus on advances made since this area was last reviewed by Gervay-Hague.²

2. History and general features

Glycosyl iodides were developed initially as an extension of the glycosyl chloride methodology developed by Michael³ and the glycosyl bromide methodology developed by Koenigs and Knorr in 1901.⁴ The first reported synthesis of a glycosyl iodide dates back almost a century, to 1910, with the successful preparation of several glycosyl iodides by Emil Fischer, upon treatment of a per-acetylated sugar (e.g., **1**) with HI in acetic acid⁵ (Scheme 1). Shortly afterwards, several other preparations were reported, again involving the treatment of per-acetylated carbohydrates with HI in acetic acid.^{6,7} The first glycosylation using a glycosyl iodide donor was conducted in 1929 when Helferich and Gootz prepared the crystalline 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl- α -D-glucopyranosyl iodide (2) and successfully produced the benzyl glycoside **4** upon treatment with benzyl alcohol in the absence of promoter⁸ (Scheme 2). Despite this success, glycosyl iodides received little attention as glycosyl donors until more recently.

This lack of attention can mainly be attributed to the perceived high level of reactivity and instability of these species.⁹ Glycosyl iodides are thermally unstable and subject to homolytic cleavage; however, this requires elevated temperatures of 70 °C or higher.¹⁰ The ability of the carbon–iodine bond to undergo homolytic cleavage has been taken advantage of, offering efficient access to some 2-deoxy glycosides¹⁰ (Scheme 3). Glycosyl iodides are also heterolytically unstable due to the good leaving group properties of the highly polarizable iodide ion.

The first mechanistic study on the reactivity of glycosyl iodides was conducted by Kronzer and Schuerch who generated p-glucopyranosyl and p-galactopyranosyl iodides (**7** and **9**, respectively, Scheme 4) in situ from the corresponding chloride or bromide by treatment via Finkelstein exchange¹¹ with sodium iodide.¹² It was found that glycosyl iodides offered advantages over glycosyl chlorides and bromides including a significant rate enhancement; reaction times were typically reduced by at least 75%. It was also shown that glycosylations conducted with a glycosyl iodide were



Scheme 3. Preparation of 2-deoxy sugars via a glycosyl iodide.¹⁰



Scheme 4. Comparison of glycosyl iodides to glycosyl chlorides and bromides as glycosyl donors.¹²



 ${\bf Scheme}~{\bf 5.}$ Generation of a glycosyl iodide from the corresponding anomeric ${\rm acetate.}^{14}$

found to be more stereoselective than those carried out with the corresponding bromide or chloride. Typically the α -anomer was produced in over 90% yield. It was proposed that this improvement in selectivity was due to the differences in the rates of anomerization of the halides prior to glycosylation.¹²

A short-lived resurgence of glycosyl iodides occurred in 1980 when it was reported that these donors could be generated from the corresponding anomeric acetate **11** upon treatment with iodo-trimethylsilane (Scheme 5).^{13,14} Thiem and Meyer not only successfully prepared a large library of glycosyl iodides, but were also able to fully characterize them.¹⁴ However, it was nearly two decades later before Gervay-Hague et al. capitalized on the effectiveness of glycosyl iodides as donors and developed them into a versatile glycosylation technique.¹⁵

Another advance in the characterization of glycosyl iodides came in 2003, when Stachulski and co-workers prepared methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-pivaloyl- α -D-glucopyranuronate iodide and found that it possessed remarkable stability at room temperature. In fact, this



Figure 1. Crystal structure of methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-pivaloyl- α -D-glucopyranuronate iodide. ¹⁶



Scheme 6. Proposed mechanism of glycosyl iodide formation.¹⁵

glycosyl iodide was so stable that a crystal structure was obtained (Fig. 1). The crystal structure shows, as would be expected, that the α -p-glucoronyl ring adopts a ${}^{4}C_{1}$ conformation.¹⁶

3. Formation of glycosyl iodides

3.1. Iodotrimethylsilane

In 1997, Gervay et al. reported the stereoselective synthesis, full characterization and a mechanistic study of the formation of both α - and β -D-glucopyranosyl iodides using iodotrimethylsilane.¹⁵ Treatment of 1-O-acetyl-2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranose with iodotrimethylsilane resulted in formation of the β -D-glucopyranosyl iodide **17** as the predominant product at -40 °C. Equilibration to the α -D-glucopyranosyl iodide occurred rapidly as the temperature was raised. The formation of the α -iodide **18** from the anomeric acetates (**13** and **14**) presumably occurs via O-silylation of the acetyl group to give the trimethylsilyl acetoxonium ion intermediates, followed by displacement by iodide ion to afford the glycosyl iodide; the anomeric effect favours the formation of the α -D-glucopyranosyl iodide **18**¹⁵ (Scheme 6).

This technique for the generation of glycosyl iodides is by far the most popular method, primarily due to the fact that the only by-product is the volatile and easily removed trimethylsilyl acetate. Iodotrimethylsilane has not only been shown capable of generating glycosyl iodides from anomeric acetates but it has been reported to be efficient in the conversion of other anomeric esters,^{14,15} anhydrosugars,¹⁴ as well as trimethylsilyl^{17,18} and methyl glycosides¹⁴ to the corresponding iodide.

3.2. HMDS/I₂

Field and co-workers reported a slightly different approach to synthesize glycosyl iodides, preferring to generate the iodotrimethylsilane in situ through the treatment of hexamethyldisilane (HMDS) with molecular iodine (Scheme 7). The proposed mechanism of glycosyl iodide formation is identical to the method previously outlined using iodotrimethylsilane.^{19,20} Murakami et al. extended this methodology using ZnI₂ as an additive, successfully



Scheme 7. Preparation of glycosyl iodides using HMDS and I_2 .^{19,20}

improving the yields reported by Field.²¹ However, a drawback of the use of Znl₂ is that an aqueous workup and column chromatography is required to isolate the glycosyl iodide product (Scheme 8).

3.3. HI

It has been known for over a century that treatment of per-Oacetylated sugars with anhydrous HBr-acetic acid results in the formation of the glycosyl bromide.²² The corresponding reaction with per-acetylated sugars and HI was first reported by Fischer in 1910,⁵ although this method has not been widely used, presumably due to the difficulty in preparing anhydrous HI.⁶ Koreeda and co-workers circumvented this problem by generating HI in situ by the oxidation of thiolacetic acid with molecular iodine (Scheme 9).²³ This method proved effective in the generation of α -glycosyl iodides from the corresponding anomeric acetates. Reaction yields ranged from 54% to 77%; however, one could presume that the isolation of the α -glycosyl iodide through chromatography would be unpleasant due to the presence of thiolacetic acid. Ness et al. successfully prepared 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranosyl iodide from the corresponding 1,2,3,4,6-penta-O-benzoyl-α-D-glucopyranose by treatment with HI in acetic acid, in this case it



Scheme 8. Preparation of glycosyl iodides using HMDS, I₂ and ZnI₂.²¹



Scheme 9. Preparation of glycosyl iodides using in situ generated HI.²³



Scheme 10. Formation of glycosyl iodides using polymer bound diphenylphosphane iodide complex. 26

was generated by the addition of hydriodic acid to acetic anhydride, circumventing the problems associated with preparing anhydrous $HI.^{24}$ This technique was later applied by Gervay-Hague and Gregar to prepare the β -iodide of *N*-acetyl neuraminic acid.²⁵

3.4. Miscellaneous techniques

Caputo et al. successfully developed a method of generating glycosyl iodides by taking advantage of a polymer-bound diphenylphosphane iodide complex.²⁶ Access to the iodide **12** is achieved directly from the hemiacetal **23** in the presence of imidazole acting as a proton trap (Scheme 10). Whilst this procedure offers distinct advantages to those mentioned above, it is yet to gain wide use as method for forming glycosyl iodides.

Another synthesis of these species was developed by Ernst and Winkler who converted a wide variety of furanose and pyranose hemiacetals to glycosyl iodides through the action of 1-iodo-*N*,*N*-trimethylpropyl-1-en-1-amine²⁷ (Scheme 11). The main disadvantage of this procedure is that a non-volatile amide by-product is generated during the reaction, thus requiring chromatographic separation to isolate the pure glycosyl iodide.

4. Formation of O-glycosides

The formation of O-glycosides is an important aspect of modern synthetic carbohydrate chemistry particularly in the synthesis of complex, biologically relevant oligosaccharides. As mentioned previously, glycosyl iodides have increasingly been used for the synthesis of glycosidic bonds and in the discussion below, this work is organized based upon the relative stereochemistry of the groups at C1 and C2.²⁸ The use of these donors in the synthesis of the more difficult 1,2-cis linkages is presented first, followed by the more easily prepared 1,2-trans linkages.

4.1. Preparation of 1,2-cis linkages

The preparation of difficult 1,2-cis linkages²⁹ is a challenge to which the glycosyl iodide methodology has been shown to excel. The use of glycosyl halides to prepare 1,2-cis linkages was pioneered by Lemieux in 1975 with the development of halide-ion catalysis.³⁰ In this seminal work, Lemieux et al. showed that treatment of an α -glycosyl bromide **25** in the presence of tetraethylammonium bromide and an alcohol afforded the 1,2-cis glycoside **26** selectively and in excellent yield (Scheme 12). The stereoselectivity of the reaction was proposed to arise from a Curtin–Hammett kinetic scheme involving the in situ generation of the more reactive



Scheme 11. Formation of glycosyl iodides using 1-iodo-*N*,*N*-trimethylpropyl-1-en-1-amine.²⁷



Scheme 12. Preparation of 1,2-cis linkages using halide catalysis.³⁰

 $\beta\mbox{-glycosyl}$ bromide, which reacted in an $S_N2\mbox{-like}$ manner to afford the product.

Gervay-Hague and Hadd capitalized on the effectiveness of halide-ion catalysis using glycosyl iodides as the donors, successfully preparing several α -D-glucopyranosides, α -D-galactopyranosides and α -L-fucopyranosides.³¹ In the D-glucopyranose series, treatment of the α -glycosyl iodide **7** with tetra-*n*-butylammonium iodide and an alcohol, in the absence of a participating group at C2, results in the highly selective formation of the α -D-glucopyranoside (**27** Scheme 13).³² Based on the earlier work of Lemieux, it was proposed that the tetra-*n*-butylammonium iodide catalyzes the rapid interconversion of the α - and β -D-glucopyranosyl iodides.³⁰ The α -glycoside **26** is then formed by preferential attack on the oxocarbenium ion **31** from the bottom face of the ring, or by attack of the neutral alcohol on the more reactive β -D-glucopyranosyl iodide **32**, via an S_N2-like displacement (Scheme 14).

In subsequent work, Gervay-Hague and Lam took advantage of this technique to prepare oligosaccharides via solution-phase synthesis³³ (Scheme 15). Shortly afterwards, this technique was extended with the development of a solid-phase glycosylation approach to prepare a tetrasaccharide attached to TentaGel resin (Scheme 16), thus removing much of the cumbersome chromatography involved in traditional oligosaccharide synthesis.³⁴ A direct comparison of solution- and solid-phase approaches was also conducted; the solution-phase synthesis was found to be more effective in terms of reaction times, yields and efficiency. For example, yields in the solution-phase synthesis ranged from 87% to 93% whilst in the solid phase lower yields of 64-88% were reported. It should be noted that similar solid-phase glycosylations were conducted by Frechet and Schuerch utilizing a glycosyl bromide donor; however, they were found to be far less efficient.³⁵ The reactions required days to complete and 12 equiv of the glycosyl bromide donor were required. In contrast with the use of glycosyl iodides, the reactions were complete in 12 h and only 7.5 equiv of donors were needed.



Scheme 13. Preparation of 1,2-cis linkages from a glycosyl iodide.³¹



Scheme 14. Mechanism of glycoside formation in the presence of TBAI.²



Scheme 15. Solution-phase oligosaccharide synthesis using a glycosyl iodide donor.³³



Scheme 16. Solid-phase oligosaccharide synthesis using a glycosyl iodide donor.³⁴



Scheme 17. Preparation of UDP-Gal via 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-trimethylsilyl-α-D-glucopyranosyl iodide.¹⁷

The preparation of most glycosyl donors involves multistep synthesis and purification of the intermediates using silica gel chromatography. In an effort to circumvent this obstacle, a more efficient protecting group strategy was explored. Hindsgaul and Uchiyama successfully employed the readily prepared per-O-trimethylsilylated glycosyl iodides as an effective glycosyl donor for the preparation of their corresponding UDP derivatives (Scheme 17).¹⁷ In addition, this approach was applied to the preparation of α -fucopyranosides.¹⁸

This work was extended by Gervay-Hague and co-workers, who capitalized on the effectiveness of this technique, successfully preparing several biologically active α -linked glycolipids, related to the natural killer T-cell ligand α -galactosyl ceramide³⁶ (Scheme 18). Yields appeared to be substrate dependent; in some cases yields above 70% while in other yields were around 30–40%. However, in all cases only the α -anomer was observed. In contrast, previously reported syntheses utilized glycosyl trichloroacetimidate³⁷ and glycosyl fluoride^{38–40} donors, typically offering lower yields (30–60%) and complex α/β mixtures.

To expand the methods for activating glycosyl iodides, Field and co-workers developed molecular iodine as a promoter that could replace tetra-*n*-butylammonium iodide.¹⁹ Field proposed the



Scheme 18. Glycolipid synthesis utilizing per-O-trimethylsilylated galactopyranosyl iodides.³⁶



Scheme 19. Proposed mechanism of glycosylation of glycosyl iodides using I₂ as the promoter.¹⁹



Scheme 20. Proposed mechanism of glycosyl iodide promotion with triphenylphosphine oxide.⁴³

mechanism shown in Scheme 19 to explain the observed selectivity, again relying on the concept of halide-ion catalysis.

Mukaiyama and Kobashi recently reported the activation of both glycosyl iodides and glycosyl bromides using various trialkylphosphine oxides.^{41,42} The phosphine oxide also served to neutralize hydrogen iodide generated during the course of the reaction, thus removing the need for the addition of a base to maintain near-neutral conditions. The use of the phosphine oxide also minimized elimination of the glycosyl iodide in turn resulting in the formation of a glycal by-product, which complicates purification of the product (see discussion below). In the p-glucopyranose series, the α -selectivity possibly arises due to S_N2 attack on the more reactive β -p-glucosyloxyphosphonium iodide **46**. The glucosyloxyphosphonium iodide has not been observed in NMR studies, which indicates that, if present, only very small amounts of this reactive intermediate exist in equilibrium with the α -D-glycosyl iodide **7** and phosphine oxide (Scheme 20).^{41,42}

Oscarson and co-workers took advantage of triphenylphosphine oxide promotion to prepare successfully α -D-glucopyranosides with complete stereoselectivity (Scheme 21).⁴⁴ The stability of the thioglycoside to these conditions (as opposed to activation using I₂) was taken advantage of and the subsequent glycosylation of the disaccharide product **50** was conducted to afford the tetrasaccharide **53**, recognized by the lectins Calrecticulin and Calnexin.

A direct comparison of the thioglycoside, trichloroacetimidate and glycosyl iodide methodology was conducted by Stick and co-



Scheme 21. Glycosylation utilizing a glycosyl iodide donor and triphenylphosphine oxide promoter.⁴⁴



Scheme 22. Synthesis of β -mannopyraosides using α -mannopyranosyl iodides and oxetane as the acceptor.⁴⁵



Scheme 23. Preparation of 1,2-trans linkages using a C2 participating group.



Scheme 24. Preparation of glycosylated morphine using a glucuronyl iodide.¹⁶

workers in the synthesis of several α -D-glucopyranosides.⁴³ The glycosyl iodide methodology was explored using the triphenylphosphine oxide promoter reported by Mukaiyama and the TBAI–DIPEA promoter reported by Gervay-Hague.^{31,41,42} Both promoter systems were shown to offer significantly better selectivity in the formation of α -D-glucopyranosides compared to the trichloroacetimidate methodology. However, the trichloroacetimidate methodology was found to be more efficient in that large excesses of the donor were not required to ensure reaction completion. The thioglycoside methodology was found to offer lower stereoselectivity than both the trichloroacetimidate and glycosyl iodide methodologies.

The stereoselective formation of β -mannopyranosides remains one of the most challenging synthetic transformations in carbohydrate chemistry as both the anomeric effect and C2 axial substituent favour the formation of the α -mannopyranoside.⁴⁵ In an effort to apply this class of donors to this problem, Gervay-Hague and coworkers reported a detailed computational and mechanistic study, in which β -mannopyranosides were prepared from the corresponding mannopyranosyl iodide **54** using oxetane as the acceptor



Scheme 25. Glucuronidation of a steroidal alcohol.⁴⁶



Scheme 26. Preparation of a mannose pentasaccharide using AgOTf as the promoter.⁴⁷

(Scheme 22).⁴⁵ This technique, however, is yet to be demonstrated in the synthesis of oligosaccharides containing β -mannopyranoside residues, or to be widely used.

4.2. Preparation of 1,2 trans linkages

Most glycosylations used to prepare 1,2-trans linkages take advantage of an ester participating group at C2 and the resulting orthoester **56** to control stereoselectivity (Scheme 23). However, activation of the donor is often slower than those typically used in the synthesis of 1,2-cis linkages, due primarily to the disarming effect of the acyl-protecting groups required to control stereoselectivity.³⁰ Thus, glycosyl iodides have been used in cases where reactions with less reactive glycosyl donors have failed.

In one example, Stachulski and co-workers developed this technique to glycosylate 3-O-pivaloyl morphine, using methyl 2,3,4-triO-pivaloyl- α -D-glucopyranuronate iodide **58**¹⁶ (Scheme 24). This work was further extended to the glucuronidation of several steroidal alcohols, which are important in the metabolism of a number of steroid-based chemotherapy pharmaceuticals (Scheme 25).⁴⁶ The glycosyl iodide methodology was contrasted with the trichloroacetimidate methodology and was shown to offer distinct advantages, most notably the absence of transacylation from the donor to the acceptor.

In another example of the use of 2-O-acetylated glycosyl iodides, Gervay-Hague and Lam successfully prepared a mannose pentasaccharide (**63**, Scheme 26), which is a protected derivative of a fragment of the N-glycan chains of HIV-1 gp120.⁴⁷ All of the glycosidic linkages between carbohydrate residues in **63** were prepared using 2-O-acetyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- α -D-mannopyranosyl iodide **62**, promoted by AgOTf. The final glycosylation step in the synthesis of **63** is shown in Scheme 26. In this reaction, an excess



Scheme 27. Preparation of 1,2-trans linkages in the absence of a C2 participating group by direct displacement.



Scheme 28. Preparation of α-mannopyranosides utilizing the glycosyl iodide methodology.⁴⁸



Scheme 29. Phase trafficking technique used to remove glycal generated during glycosylation.⁴⁸



Scheme 30. Glycosylation using a glycosyl iodide donor and phenol acceptor.⁴⁹

of **62** was used to glycosylate trisaccharide diol **61**, leading to a 91% yield of the desired pentasaccharide.

There are also several instances where glycosyl iodides have been used to synthesize 1,2-trans linkages in the absence of a participating group at C2 of the donor. In the case of α -glycosyl iodides in the gluco- or galacto-series, when an iodide source is not present, in situ anomerization would not occur, and thus one would expect that direct S_N2 displacement of the iodide **7** would provide the 1,2trans linkage (**64**, Scheme 27). In contrast, nucleophilic attack on the oxonium ion **31** would presumably afford the α -glycoside **26**.

In the *manno*-series, the situation is different. The first reported synthesis of an α -p-mannopyranoside utilizing a glycosyl iodide was conducted by Gervay-Hague and Lam in 2005 using their standard TBAI-DIPEA promoter system.⁴⁸ The donor employed possessed a benzyloxy group at C2 and thus this reaction probably proceeds in a manner similar to the halide catalysis discussed in the context of 1,2-cis glycoside synthesis. Unfortunately, these conditions generated significant quantities of the glycal **67** by-product, which was inseparable from the desired product by chromatography (Scheme 28). The glycal **67** could be removed by conversion to the 1,2-anhydrosugar **68** via electrophilic epoxidation, followed by immobilization on divinylbenzene cross-linked polystyrene beads (Scheme 29).⁴⁸

Another example of a glycosylation conducted with a glycosyl iodide in the absence of a participating group is the preparation of the phenyl β -glucopyranoside **70** (Scheme 30).⁴⁹ Promotion was achieved by the treatment of phenol with NaHMDS, resulting in the generation of the highly nucleophilic phenoxy anion. Gervay-Hague and Kulkarni were then able to adapt this method into a viable approach for the synthesis of more complex glycosides, by taking advantage of the 1,2,3,4,6-penta-*O*-trimethylsilyl-D-galactopyranose **39** to prepare an immunogenic bacterial glycolipid (**71**, Scheme 31).⁵⁰ In the latter case, silver carbonate, not a base, was used to promote the reaction.

The effective synthesis of furanosides is a topic of emerging importance, particularly, when one considers that furanose polysaccharides are a vital component of the cell wall of many pathogenic bacteria such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *Trypanosoma cruzi*.^{51,52} Baldoni and Marino recently reported the first use of a galactofuranosyl iodide to prepare several glycosides in good yield and high stereoselectivity (Scheme 32).⁵³ In particular, carbohydrate-based acceptors such as **74** resulted in formation of the β -glycoside as the sole product; in all but one case the yields were above 69%.

Field and co-workers have extended their previously developed glycosyl iodide promotion systems to include thioglucoside and selenoglucoside donors.⁵⁴ In this case the treatment of a thiogluco-



Scheme 31. Synthesis of BbGL1 from 1,2,3,4,6-penta-O-trimethylsilyl-D-galactopyranose.



Scheme 32. Synthesis of galactofuranosides utilizing a glycosyl iodide intermediate.⁵³



Scheme 33. Glycosylation using a thioglucoside and selenoglucoside donor, through proposed formation of a glycosyl iodide intermediate.⁵⁴



Scheme 34. Preparation of 2-deoxy- β -D-glycopyranosides by direct displacement of an α -D-glycopyranosyl iodide.⁶⁰

side **76** or selenoglucoside **77** with iodine and DDQ, followed by an acceptor, resulted in moderately selective formation of the β -glucopyranoside **79** in good yield. The mechanism of the promotion is not fully understood; however, it was suggested that a variety of intermediates were possible including a glycosyl iodide, oxocarbenium ion or an α -glycosyl nitrilium ion (Scheme 33).

4.3. Preparation of 2-deoxy glycosides

Deoxygenated carbohydrates are an important component of modern pharmaceuticals including the important anti-tumour antibiotics olivomycin, chromomycin, mithramycin and UCHC9.^{55–57} These compounds are members of the aureolic acid family and possess several 2,6-dideoxy glycosidic linkages.⁵⁸ The synthesis of 2-deoxy- β -glycosides presents a significant challenge, because in the absence of a participating group at C2, the kinetic anomeric effect favours the axial (usually α) glycoside.⁵⁹ Gervay-Hague and Lam reported the successful preparation of several 2-deoxy- β -D-glycopyranosides **82** via direct displacement of the α -D-glycopyranosyl iodide **81** (Scheme 34).⁶⁰

Access to the 2-deoxy- α -p-glycopyranosyl iodide **81** required for these glycosylations was achieved from the anomeric acetate **80**, which was, in turn, easily produced from the corresponding glycal. Treatment of the 2-deoxy- α -p-glycopyranosyl iodide **81** with the aryloxy anion generated in situ by treatment of the appropriate phenol with KHMDS afforded the β -p-glycoside **82**.⁶⁰ Whilst this technique shows significant promise in the synthesis aryl 2-deoxy- β -glycosides, it is yet to be proven in the synthesis of 2deoxy oligosaccharides.

5. Formation of C-glycosylic compounds (C-glycosides)

The importance of C-glycosides is evident by the diverse array of biologically relevant natural products possessing this linkage.⁶¹ In the context of glycomimetics, an advantage of C-glycosides is that, being ethers, they are as not susceptible to enzymatic or chemical hydrolysis thus rendering them potentially more suitable as biological tools and therapeutics.^{62,63}

The first synthesis of C-glycosides utilizing a glycosyl iodide was conducted by Nagasawa and co-workers in 1987.⁶⁴ This work took advantage of the formation of a glycosyl radical by treatment of the glycosyl iodide **2** with Bu₃SnH in the presence of either AIBN or light, and its subsequent addition to an electron-deficient olefin. A direct comparison to glycosyl bromides was also made. In the case of the reaction of glycosyl iodide **2** with methyl vinyl ketone, a slightly higher yield was observed whilst requiring only one quarter of the quantity of Bu₃SnH. This effect was rationalized by preferential homolytic cleavage of the carbon–iodine bond compared to the carbon–bromine bond (Scheme 35).⁶⁴

The formation of C-glycosides via an anionic addition to a glycosyl iodide was developed by Gervay-Hague and Hadd, initially utilizing simple nucleophiles such as diethyl malonate or *n*-Bu₄NCN.⁴⁹ In the case of α -D-galactopyranosyl **9** and α -D-mannopyranosyl iodides **87**, excellent β -selectivity was observed, whilst in the reaction of the α -D-glucopyranosyl iodide **7** with diethyl malonate, the α -anomer was favoured.⁴⁹ This stereochemical outcome was rationalized by the in situ anomerization of the iodide, although an S_N1 mechanism could not be ruled out (Scheme 36).⁴⁹



Scheme 35. Preparation of C-glycosides using a glycosyl radical addition.⁶⁴



Scheme 36. Preparation of C-glycosides using anionic addition.⁴⁹

Direct access to more complex C-glycosides via glycosyl iodides has not been reported, but has been achieved by the introduction of the C-glycoside followed by subsequent elaboration to the target. For example, Gervay-Hague and Kulkarni successfully prepared a C-glycoside analogue **94** of the immunogenic bacterial glycolipid BbGL2 by first introducing the C-glycoside using a Grignard reaction, followed by olefin cross metathesis to introduce a functionalized carbon chain and consecutive DCC couplings to insert the lipid (Scheme 37).⁶⁵

The preparation of C-glycosides utilizing a carbohydrate-based electrophile was achieved by Beau and co-workers by taking advantage of a reductive samariation.⁶⁶ Treatment of glycosyl iodide **7** with an aldehyde or ketone in the presence of samarium iodide afforded C-glycoside **96** bearing a hydroxyl group at the 'glycosidic' carbon, which was then deoxygenated in good yield.⁶⁶ Whilst this technique is promising, its main disadvantage lies in the multistep sequence required to deoxygenate and obtain the C-glycoside (Scheme 38).

6. Formation of N-glycosides

The importance of N-glycosides is highlighted by nucleosides and nucleotides, constituents of RNA and DNA.⁶⁷ The first reported synthesis of an N-glycoside via a glycosyl iodide methodology was the synthesis of protected derivatives of the nucleosides uridine, cytidine and adenosine by Beránek and co-workers.¹³ In most cases the yields obtained were greater than 80% and the reactions were completely stereoselective (Scheme 39).

Gervay-Hague and Ying took advantage of a glycosyl iodide donor to prepare a range of glycosyl azides, important intermediates in the incorporation of carbohydrates onto solid supports for solidphase strategies.⁶⁸ These azides, once reduced to the corresponding amine, have also been used to great effect in the synthesis of amide linked oligomers,^{69–72} and glycopeptides.⁷³ Treatment of glycosyl iodides derived from several monosaccharides and disaccharides with either tetrabutylammonium azide (TBAN₃) or tetramethylguanidinium azide (TMGA) led to 70–90% yields of the glycosyl azide (Scheme 40).⁶⁸

Indigo N-glycosides show considerable activity against a variety of human tumour cell lines. Langer and co-workers took advantage of a glycosyl iodide methodology to successfully prepare several indigo N-glycosides in 15–22% yield. Despite the low yields, this synthesis was the first reported for a fully deprotected indigo N-glycoside⁷⁴ (Scheme 41).

7. Conclusions

Advances over the past several years have now established glycosyl iodides as a useful class of glycosylating agents, which can be employed in the synthesis of a number of different types of glyco-



Scheme 37. Formation of C-analogue of bacterial glycolipid BbGL2.⁶⁵



Scheme 38. Preparation of C-glycoside 97 via a reductive samariation.⁶⁶



Scheme 39. Preparation of protected nucleosides via a glycosyl iodide.¹³

Scheme 40. Preparation of glycosyl azides via a glycosyl iodide.⁶⁸



Scheme 41. Synthesis of N-(α -D-glucopyranosyl)indigo.

sidic linkages, including O-, N- and C-glycosides. One of their main strengths lies in the preparation of the difficult 1,2-cis O-glycosides, usually offering excellent stereoselectivity, comparable or better to those obtained with other classes of glycosyl donors. These donors have also been used for the synthesis of other classes of glycosidic linkages, but in many cases their advantage over other glycosylating agents is less clear. It remains to be determined whether this is due to undeveloped potential or limitations that are inherent in these donors.

References

- Demchenko, A. V. Handbook of Chemical Glycosylation: Advances in Stereoselectivity and Therapeutic Relevance; Wiley-VCH, 2008.
- Gervay, J. Glycosyl lodides in Organic Chemistry. In Organic synthesis: Theory and Applications; JAI Press monograph series, 1998; Vol. 4, pp 121–153.
- 3. Michael, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1879, 1, 403.
- 4. Koenigs, W.; Knorr, E. Chem. Ber. 1901, 34, 957.
- 5. Fischer, E.; Fischer, H. Chem. Ber. 1910, 2521-2536.
- 6. Hudson, C. S.; Kunz, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1925, 47, 2052-2055.
- 7. Brauns, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1929, 51, 1820-1831.
- 8. Helferich, B.; Gootz, R. Chem. Ber. 1929, 62, 2788-2792.
- 9. Schmidt, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1986**, 25, 212–235.
- Giese, B.; Gilges, S.; Gröninger, K. S.; Lamberth, C.; Witzel, T. Liebigs. Ann. Chem. 1988, 615–617.
- 11. Finklestein, H. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1910, 43, 1528-1532.
- 12. Kronzer, F. J.; Schuerch, C. Carbohydr. Res. 1974, 34, 71-78.
- 13. Točik, Z.; Earl, R. A.; Beránek, J. Nucleic Acids Res. 1980, 8, 4755-4761.
- 14. Thiem, J.; Meyer, B. Chem. Ber. 1980, 113, 3075-3085.
- 15. Gervay, J.; Ngyuen, T.; Hadd, M. Carbohydr. Res. 1997, 300, 119-125.
- Bickley, J.; Cottrell, J. A.; Ferguson, J. R.; Field, R. A.; Harding, J. R.; Hughes, D. L.; Kartha, K. P. R.; Law, J. L.; Schienmann, F.; Stachulski, A. V. Chem. Commun. 2003, 1266–1267.
- 17. Uchiyama, T.; Hindsgaul, O. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1998, 17, 1181-1190.
- 18. Uchiyama, T.; Hindsgaul, O. Synlett 1996, 499-501.
- 19. van Well, R. M.; Kartha, K. P. R.; Field, R. A. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 2005, 24, 463– 474.
- Mukhopadhyay, B.; Kartha, K. P. R.; Russell, D. A.; Field, R. A. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 7758–7760.
- 21. Murakami, T.; Sato, Y.; Shibakami, M. Carbohydr. Res. 2008, 34, 1297-1308.
- 22. Helferich, B.; Weis, K. Chem. Ber. 1956, 89, 314-321.
- 23. Chervin, S. M.; Abada, P.; Koreeda, M. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 369-372.
- 24. Ness, R. K.; Fletcher, H. G.; Hudson, C. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1950, 72, 2200-2205.
- 25. Gervay, J.; Gergar, T. Q. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, 38, 5921–5924.
- Caputo, R.; Kunz, H.; Mastroianni, D.; Palumbo, G.; Pedatella, S.; Solla, F. Eur.
- J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 3147–3150.
- 27. Ernst, B.; Winkler, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 3081–3084.
- Stick, R. V. Carbohydrates: The Sweet Molecules of Life; Academic Press: London, 2001.
- 29. Demchenko, A. V. Curr. Org. Chem. 2003, 7, 35–79.
- Lemieux, R. U.; Hendriks, K. B.; Stick, R. V.; James, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 4056–4062.
- 31. Hadd, M. J.; Gervay, J. Carbohydr. Res. 1999, 320, 61-69.
- 32. Kartha, K. P. R.; Field, R. A. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1998, 17, 693-702.
- 33. Lam, S. N.; Gervay-Hague, J. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2039–2042.
- 34. Lam, S. N.; Gervay-Hague, J. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 1953-1965.
- 35. Fréchet, J. M.; Schuerch, C. Carbohydr. Res. 1972, 22, 399-412.

- 36. Du, W.; Kulkarni, S. S.; Gervay-Hague, J. Chem. Commun. 2007, 2336-2338.
- Plettenburg, O.; Bodmer-Narkevitch, V.; Wong, C. H. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 4559–4564
- Morita, M.; Motoki, K.; Akimoto, K.; Natori, T.; Sakai, T.; Sawa, E.; Yamaji, K.; Koezuka, Y.; Kobayashi, E.; Fukushima, H. J. Med. Chem. **1995**, 38, 2176–2187.
- Ndonye, R. M.; Ismirian, D. P.; Dunn, M. F.; Yu, K. O. A.; Porcelli, S. A.; Khurana, A.; Kronenburg, M.; Richardson, S. K.; Howell, A. R. *J. Org. Chem.* 2005, 70, 10260–10270.
- Sakai, T.; Ueno, H.; Natori, T.; Uchimura, A.; Motoki, K.; Koezuka, Y. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 650–652.
- 41. Kobashi, Y.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 2004, 33, 874.
- 42. Mukaiyama, T.; Kobashi, Y. Chem. Lett. 2004, 33, 10-11.
- Meloncelli, P. J.; Williams, T. M.; Hartmann, P. E.; Stick, R. V. Carbohydr. Res. 2007, 342, 1793–1804.
- 44. Gemma, E.; Lahmann, M.; Oscarson, S. Carbohydr. Res. 2005, 340, 2558-2562.
- El-Bardi, M. H.; Willenbring, D.; Tantillo, D. J.; Gervay-Hague, J. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 4663–4672.
- Harding, J. R.; King, C. D.; Perrie, J. A.; Sinnott, D.; Stachulski, A. V. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 1501–1507.
- 47. Lam, S. N.; Gervay-Hague, J. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 8772-8779.
- 48. Lam, S. N.; Gervay-Hague, J. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2387-2390.
- 49. Gervay, J.; Hadd, M. J. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 6961-6967.
- 50. Kulkarni, S. S.; Gervay-Hague, J. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 4739-4742.
- 51. Pan, F.; Jackson, M.; Ma, Y.; McNeil, M. J. Bacteriol. 2001, 183, 3991-3998.
- 52. Houseknecht, J. B.; Lowary, T. L. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2001, 5, 677-682.
- 53. Baldoni, L.; Marino, C. J. Org. Chem. 2009. doi: 10.1021/jo8025274.
 - van Well, R. M.; Karkkainen, T. S.; Kartha, K. P. R.; Field, R. A. Carbohydr. Res. 2006, 341, 1391–1397.
 - 55. Sastry, M.; Patel, D. J. Biochemistry 1993, 32, 6588-6604.
 - Kennedy, B. J.; Yarbro, J. W.; Kickertz, V.; Sandberg-Wollheim, M. *Cancer Res.* 1968, 28, 91–97.
 - Ogawa, H.; Yamashita, Y.; Katahira, R.; Chiba, S.; Iwasaki, T.; Ashizawa, T.; Nakano, H. J. Antibiot. 1998, 51, 261–266.
 - Berlin, Y. A.; Kiseleva, O. A.; Kolosov, O. A.; Shemyakin, M. M.; Soifer, V. S.; Vasina, I. V.; Yartseva, I. V. *Nature* **1968**, *218*, 193–194.
 - Kaila, N.; Blumenstein, M.; Bielawska, H.; Franck, R. W. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 4576–4578.
 - 60. Lam, S. N.; Gervay-Hague, J. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4219-4222.
 - 61. Hanessian, S.; Pernet, A. G. Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. **1973**, 33, 111–188.
 - 62. Casiraghi, G.; Zanardi, F.; Rassu, G.; Panu, P. Chem. Rev. **1995**, 95, 1677–1716.
 - Kessler, H.; Wittmann, V.; Köck, M.; Kottenhahn, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 902–904.
 - 64. Araki, Y.; Endo, T.; Tanji, M.; Nasagawa, J.; Ishido, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1987**, *28*, 5853–5856.
 - 65. Kulkarni, S. S.; Gervay-Hague, J. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 5765–5768.
 - 66. Miquel, N.; Doisneau, G.; Beau, J. M. Chem. Commun. 2000, 2347-2348.
 - Berg, J. M.; Tymoczko, J. L.; Stryer, L. Biochemistry, 5th ed.; W. H. Freeman, 2002. p 1100.
 - 68. Ying, L.; Gervay-Hague, J. Carbohydr. Res. 2003, 338, 835-841.
 - 69. Suhara, Y.; Hildreth, J. E. K.; Ichikawa, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, 37, 1575–1578.
 - Claridge, T. D. W.; Long, D. D.; Hungerford, N. L.; Aplin, R. T.; Smith, M. D.; Marquess, D. G.; Fleet, G. W. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, 40, 2199–2202.
 - 71. Gervay, J.; Flaherty, T. M.; Nguyen, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 1493-1496.
 - 72. Szabo, L.; Smith, B. L.; McReynolds, K. D.; Parrill, A. L.; Morris, E. R.; Gervay, J.
 - J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 1074–1078.
 73. Vetter, D.; Tumelty, D.; Singh, S. K.; Gallop, M. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 60–63.
 - 74. Hein, M.; Phuong, N. T. B.; Michalik, D.; Görls, H.; Lalk, M.; Langer, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 5741–5745.